THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
APPELLATE PANEL

Appellate Case No. 2018-001664

RECEIVED
JAN 10 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Anthony Graham, Employee, Respondent,

v.

Stacy Whitfield d/b/a Whitfield Land & Tree Service, Direct Employer, and
S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund, Carrier,

Of which Stacy Whitfield d/b/a Whitfield Land & Tree Service is the
Respondent and S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David H. Keller (S.C. Bar # 3345)
Turner Padget Graham & Laney P.A.
200 E. Broad Street
P.O. Box 1509 (29602)
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
Telephone: (864) 552-4622

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Commission err in finding and concluding that Stacy Whitfield d/b/a Whitfield Land and Tree Service was subject to the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act by virtue of having four or more employees regularly employed in the same business or occupation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose following Anthony Graham's ("Respondent") filing of a claim under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act ("the Act") alleging injuries on January 27, 2017, while under the employ of Stacy Whitfield d/b/a Whitfield Land and Tree Service ("Mr. Whitfield"). Because Mr. Whitfield did not have four or more employees, and thus fell outside the purview of the Act, he neither had, nor was required to obtain, workers' compensation insurance. Because he did not have workers' compensation insurance, the South Carolina Uninsured Employers Fund ("Appellant") was added as a defendant in this claim.

Pursuant to Respondent's Form 50 Hearing Request, a hearing before the Single Commissioner, Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., was held on October 25, 2017. (R. p. 39). Before the Commissioner were the issues of, *inter alia*, whether Mr. Whitfield was subject to the Act and so was required to have workers' compensation insurance, as well as whether the Respondent was entitled to medical or temporary disability benefits, past, present, or future, under the Act. (R. pp. 3-4).

By Decision and Order dated December 21, 2017, Hearing Commissioner Wilkerson concluded that Mr. Whitfield was within the scope of the Act, the Respondent sustained compensable injuries, and the Respondent was entitled to past and future medical expenses and temporary total disability benefits from the date of injury through the present and continuing. (R. p. 12).

More specifically, the Commissioner found that Mr. Whitfield had the following employees at various times: Anthony Graham, Brant Richey (Mr. Whitfield's son), Cody Moore, Trinity Moore, Teddy (last name unknown), Gary Whitfield, Mike Swain, Johnny Whitman, "Stick" Floyd, and Carla Weaver (common law wife of Mr. Whitfield). (R. pp. 9-10).

At the same time, the Commissioner found that Mr. Whitfield rotated employees from day to day. (R. p. 9). Despite no evidence to support his finding, the Commissioner went a step further and found that Mr. Whitfield was intentionally “moving employees around to avoid buying workers’ compensation insurance” under the Act. (R. p. 9). In direct contrast to this finding, Mr. Whitfield testified that the needs of his business determine the individuals to be hired and when each is hired. (R. pp. 297, 311).

Commissioner Wilkerson interpreted § 42-1-360 and the case law related thereto as meaning that an employer with four different people working for him or her at various, unspecified times is subject to the Act even if he or she never employed four or more at any given time. (R. pp. 9-10). And thus, because Mr. Whitfield employed more than four different people at various, unspecified times, the Commissioner ultimately found that Mr. Whitfield was subject to the Act. (R. p. 10).

Appellant thereafter filed an appeal with the Appellate Panel of the Workers’ Compensation Commission on January 4, 2018. (R. p. 348). Two weeks following the appeal and therefore without subject matter jurisdiction over the claim, Commissioner Wilkerson issued a second Decision and Order dated January 19, 2018, attempting to fine Mr. Whitfield without a hearing, without notice, and without following any of the procedures or the regulations regarding coverage and compliance issues, thereby depriving Mr. Whitfield of due process. (R. pp. 15-18).

Subsequently, Appellant appealed the second order and both matters came before the Appellate Panel of the Workers’ Compensation Commission on March 19, 2018. (R. p. 367). By Decision and Order dated August 8, 2018, the Appellate Panel affirmed the Single Commissioner’s Decision and Order dated December 21, 2017, in its entirety, but vacated the Decision and Order dated January 19, 2018, attempting to fine Mr. Whitfield. (R. pp. 32-33).

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals on September 10, 2018. (R. pp. 369-74). The sole issue on appeal is whether Mr. Whitfield is subject to the Act even though he never had of having four or more employees regularly employed on any single job pursuant to § 42-1-360 and supporting case law.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Respondent sustained an injury by accident occurring on or about January 27, 2017, when he was struck by a tree limb injuring his left back, ribs, and mid-back. (R. p. 275). Afterwards, the Respondent was able to get up and walk. (R. p. 276). At the time, the Respondent was working for Mr. Whitfield as a day laborer in Mr. Whitfield's tree cutting service business. (R. p. 276).

Mr. Whitfield does not dispute that the tree limb fell and caused the Respondent to sustain injuries that day and even offered to help the Respondent by taking him to the emergency room following the incident. (R. pp. 275-76). However, the Respondent refused the offer, but allowed his wife to take him to the emergency room later that night. (R. pp. 275-76). Mr. Whitfield tried to help the Respondent in any way he could and testified that he considered Respondent to be like a little brother to him. (R. pp. 277-78). Mr. Whitfield helped the Respondent get off the streets and obtain a place to live, bought the Respondent groceries and feed him when he was hungry, and paid Respondent's light and water bills in the past. (R. p. 278).

Along the same lines, Mr. Whitfield does not dispute that the Respondent was under his employ on the date of the injury. (R. p. 276). Indeed, Mr. Whitfield paid the Respondent 100 dollars per day of work. (R. p. 278). Plus, when the Respondent brought his own equipment in order to climb up and down trees, Mr. Whitfield paid the Respondent an additional 25 to 50

dollars to perform this task. (R. pp. 279-80). In the past, Mr. Whitfield requested that Respondent provide him with a social security number and drug test so that he could make the Respondent a full-time laborer and be entered on the company books, however the Respondent refused. (R. pp. 281-82). Therefore, the Respondent remained only a day laborer and was always paid for his work in cash. (R. p. 282).

In addition to the Respondent, Mr. Whitfield also employed other individuals at various times as day laborers in his tree cutting service business. (R. p. 283). Notably, Mr. Whitfield never worked these individuals all at once. (R. p. 285). Instead, no more than two individuals ever worked for Mr. Whitfield at the same time. (R. pp. 297, 310-11). The individuals hired to work and when they worked was determined strictly by the needs of Mr. Whitfield's business. For example, Mr. Whitfield might work by himself and hire no day laborers when the job in question was small. (R. p. 313). But in the case of a larger job, Mr. Whitfield might need to hire one or two day laborers. (R. p. 313). The identity of the individuals working for him varied based on who was available for work when Mr. Whitfield had a job.

Mr. Whitfield's son, Brant Ritchey, is the only individual entered on the company books, but even he does not work every day, often working a week and then going out of work for some time. (R. pp. 283, 315). Teddy (last name unknown) worked for Mr. Whitfield prior to when Mr. Whitfield's son was hired, and the two individuals' employment never overlapped. (R. p. 287). On the date of the Respondent's injury, only the Respondent and Mr. Whitfield's son were working. (R. p. 311).

Cody Moore worked for Mr. Whitfield for only two days and was paid \$8.00 per hour in cash. (R. p. 283). Trinity Wilson, Cody Moore's son-in-law, was also paid \$8.00 per hour in cash. (R. p. 284). Both were strictly contracted as day laborers because extra help was needed

on a job. (R. p. 285). Gary Whitfield, Mr. Whitfield's brother, has worked as a day laborer for Mr. Whitfield when no one else was available to work. (R. p. 290). Mike Swain, Mr. Whitfield's brother-in-law, has also worked as a day laborer and was paid \$10.00 per hour. (R. p. 290). Johnny Whitman worked as a day laborer and was paid 100 dollars per day of work. (R. p. 291). "Stick" Floyd worked as a day laborer and was paid \$10.00 per hour. (R. p. 292).

Finally, Carla Weaver, Mr. Whitfield's common law wife for 11 years, helps Mr. Whitfield with the company books and paperwork but has never been paid. (R. pp. 293-94, 296). Mr. Whitfield and Carla Weaver, although they do not hold a marriage license, hold themselves out to the public as a married couple and have lived together for years. (R. pp. 317-18). She does not work as an employee and only helps as Mr. Whitfield's spouse. (R. p. 314).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act, South Carolina Code Ann. § 1-23-380, establishes the “substantial evidence” rule as the standard of review for decisions of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission where no jurisdictional question arises. Lark v. Bi-Lo, 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 305-06 (1981) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380). Under this standard, the Court of Appeals should affirm the Full Workers’ Compensation Commission’s decision where the factual findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record. Jennings v. Chambers Dev. Co., 335 S.C. 249, 516 S.E.2d 453, 458 (Ct. App. 1999).

The Court of Appeals may reverse the Workers’ Compensation Commission’s decision where “substantial rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are,” *inter alia*, not supported by substantial evidence or “arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(f). An abuse of the Commission’s discretion constitutes grounds for this Court to reverse and remand a case for a hearing *de novo*. See Adams v. H.R. Allen, Inc., 397 S.C. 652, 659, 726 S.E.2d 9, 13 (Ct. App. 2012) (vacating, remanding, and ordering a *de novo* hearing).

With regard to jurisdictional questions, however, a *de novo* standard of review applies wherein “the Court may take its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Wilkinson ex rel. Wilkinson v. Palmetto State Transp. Co., 382 S.C. 295, 299, 676 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2009) (citing S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc., 318 S.C. 546, 547, 459 S.E.2d 302, 303 (1995)) (taking its own view of the preponderance of the evidence regarding whether the claimant was an employee or independent contract). Under this standard, “an appellate court reviews jurisdictional issues by making its own findings of fact without regard to

the findings and conclusions of the Appellate Panel.” Hernandez-Zuniga v. Tickle, 374 S.C. 235, 244, 647 S.E.2d 691, 695 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Harding v. Plumley d/b/a Plumley Construction Co., 329 S.C. 580, 584, 496 S.E.2d 29, 31 (Ct. App. 1998)).

“The issue of whether or not an employer regularly employs the requisite number of employees to be subject to the Workers’ Compensation Act is jurisdictional.” Hernandez, 374 S.C. at 244, 647 S.E.2d at 695 (citing Harding, 329 S.C. at 584, 496 S.E.2d at 31). As a result, a *de novo* standard of review applies, and the Court must “review the record and decide the issue in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Harding, 329 S.C. at 584, 496 S.E.2d at 32; see also Kirksey v. Assurance Tire Co., 311 S.C. 255, 428 S.E.2d 721 (Ct. App. 1993) (“the court of appeals has the power and duty to review the record and decide the issue in accordance with the preponderance of the evidence.”). “The commission’s findings of fact relative to the number of employees employed by the employer are not conclusive on appeal.” Harding, 329 S.C. at 584, 496 S.E.2d at 32.

Moreover, the question of jurisdiction is a question of law. Hernandez, 374 S.C. at 244, 647 S.E.2d at 695 (citing Gray v. Club Group, Ltd., 339 S.C. 173, 183, 528 S.E.2d 435, 440 (Ct. App. 2000); Roper Hosp. v. Clemons, 326 S.C. 534, 536, 484 S.E.2d 598, 599 (Ct. App. 1997)). The Court of Appeals may reverse where the decision of the Workers’ Compensation Commission is affected by an error of law. Id. (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d)).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Commission erred in finding and concluding that Stacy Whitfield d/b/a Whitfield Land and Tree Service was subject to the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act because the preponderance of evidence shows that Mr. Whitfield never regularly employed four or more employees as is explicitly required by § 42-1-360 for the Commission to have jurisdiction over a claim.**

The Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Commission's Decision and Order finding that Mr. Whitfield regularly employed four or more employees because the preponderance of evidence supports just the opposite. Applying a *de novo* standard of review, Appellant respectfully submits that this Court take its own view of the preponderance of the evidence and conclude that Mr. Whitfield did not satisfy the minimum number requirement under § 42-1-360 during the relevant time period. Therefore, he was not within the purview of the Act and was not required to have workers' compensation insurance. Accordingly, this incident does not fall under the Commission's jurisdiction, and thus, neither Mr. Whitfield nor Appellant can be held liable for the payment of any benefits under the Act. Nevertheless, the Commission found that jurisdiction did, in fact, exist and thereafter proceeded to hold Mr. Whitfield and Appellant liable for benefits under the Act. Such a finding is contrary to the preponderance of the evidence and Appellant requests that this case be reversed.

In overview, pursuant to § 42-1-360, the Act exempts "any person who has regularly employed in service less than four employees in the same business within the State." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-360(2). Thus, an employer must employ, at minimum, four or more employees to fall within the scope of the Act and give the Commission jurisdiction. However, in calculating the total number of employees employed by any given employer, the Act specifically excludes several groups or types of employees. The Act simply does not mandate coverage for all employees.

A. Mr. Whitfield's employees were casual in nature, and thus excluded from counting toward the total number of employees employed by Mr. Whitfield for the purposes of the Act.

First, the Act excludes "casual employees" from counting toward the four or more total employees required to fall within the scope of the Act, even if the work of those "casual employees" is within the trade, business, profession, or occupation of the employer. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130 ("The Act excludes a person whose employment is both casual *and* not in the course of the trade, business, profession, or occupation of his employer.") (emphasis added); S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-360(1) ("This title does not apply to[] a casual employee, as defined in Section 42-1-130.").

"Employment is casual when it is irregular, unpredictable, sporadic and brief in nature." Smith v. Coastal Tire & Auto Service, 263 S.C. 77, 81, 207 S.E.2d 810, 811 (1974) (quoting 1A Larson, WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION LAW, § 51.00, p. 909) (internal quotations omitted); Benbow v. Edmunds High School, 220 S.C. 363, 67 S.E.2d 680 (1951). Or, as defined by Black's Law Dictionary, casual employment is "employment at uncertain times or irregular intervals . . . by chance, fortuitously, and for no fixed time." Smith, 263 S.C. at 81, 207 S.E.2d at 811 (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 275 (4th Ed. Rev.)) (internal quotations omitted).

For example, in Smith, the Supreme Court looked to the antonyms of "casual" such as "regular, systematic, periodic, and certain" in determining that the claimant in the case before the court was not a regular employee, but was casual, because "he worked on a most irregular, spasmodic, and sporadic basis." 263 S.C. at 81, 207 S.E.2d at 812. In the same way, the employees of Mr. Whitfield were not regular employees, but only casual in nature. In fact, Mr. Whitfield's son, Brant Ritchey, is the only individual entered on the company books. (R. pp.

283, 315). But, even he did not work every day, often working a week and then going out of work for some time. (R. pp. 283, 315).

Moreover, Cody Moore worked for Mr. Whitfield for only two days, and therefore, was not working in a “regular” or “certain” manner. (R. p. 283). See Smith, 263 S.C. at 81, 207 S.E.2d at 812. At best, his employment was “by chance” and “for no fixed time.” Smith, 263 S.C. at 81, 207 S.E.2d at 811. In addition to Cody Moore, Mr. Whitfield also hired Trinity Wilson (Cody Moore’s son-in-law), but both Cody and Trinity were only hired because extra help was needed on a particular job. (R. pp. 284-85). Therefore, their employment was in no way “certain.” Smith, 263 S.C. at 81, 207 S.E.2d at 812.

Similarly, Gary Whitfield (Mr. Whitfield’s brother) worked as a day laborer for Mr. Whitfield only when no one else was available to work. (R. p. 290). Plainly, this supports that “he worked on a most irregular, spasmodic, and sporadic basis.” Smith, 263 S.C. at 81, 207 S.E.2d at 812. Moreover, all of the above laborers, in addition to Teddy (last name unknown), Johnny Whitman, and “Stick” Floyd, were paid by Mr. Whitfield in cash. (R. pp. 283-92). Nothing about these individuals’ work was “regular” or “certain.” Smith, 263 S.C. at 81, 207 S.E.2d at 812. Instead, their work for Mr. Whitfield was “irregular” and “sporadic.” Id. Accordingly, all of Mr. Whitfield’s employees were merely casual employees within the meaning of the Act, and all should be excluded from counting toward the four or more total employees required to place Mr. Whitfield within the Commission’s jurisdiction.

B. Like casual employees, gratuitous employees, such as Mr. Whitfield's wife, are also excluded from counting toward the total number of employees employed by Mr. Whitfield for the purposes of the Act.

The testimony makes clear that Mr. Whitfield employed all his employees on a casual basis, and therefore, none should count toward the four or more total employees required to fall within the scope of the Act. However, even if several of these employees were not casual employees and could fairly be counted toward the required minimum number of employees, which is clearly not the case, Mr. Whitfield's own wife still cannot be counted as an employee for the purposes of the Act. Indeed, in addition to casual employees, the Act further excludes gratuitous employees, meaning those employees whom are not paid in some way or another for the work or services rendered. Kirksey, 311 S.C. at 255, 428 S.E.2d at 721 (holding a person who neither receives nor expects any kind of pay or remuneration for keeping the company books is not an employee).

As in the case of Mr. Whitfield's wife of 11 years, Carla Weaver, close family members have often been found to render work or services without remuneration, and in turn, been found to constitute mere gratuitous employees. See, e.g., Id. For example, in the almost identical case of Kirksey, this Court held that a family member keeping the company books and performing secretarial duties, but whom is never paid for that work, is not an employee for the purposes of the Act. 311 S.C. at 257-58, 428 S.E.2d at 723 (citing McCreery v. Covenant Presbyterian Church, 299 S.C. 218, 383 S.E.2d 264, 266 (Ct. App. 1989)) (observing that "employee" is defined by the Act as a person in an employment under a contract of hire and that contract of hire connotes payment of some kind). Instead, this Court held that the family member qualified as merely a gratuitous worker. Id.

Likewise here, as the evidentiary record shows, Mr. Whitfield's wife only helped Mr. Whitfield with the company books and paperwork. (R. pp. 293-94, 296). But, she was never paid for her assistance. (R. pp. 293-94, 296). Therefore, case law dictates that Mr. Whitfield's wife be characterized as a mere gratuitous employee. As a result, she cannot count toward the total employees needed to give the Commission jurisdiction over Mr. Whitfield and this case.

C. Notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Whitfield's employees are casual in nature and his wife was a mere gratuitous worker, Mr. Whitfield still falls beyond the purview of the Act because he never "regularly" employed four or more of these individuals during the relevant time period.

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