THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel

RECEIVED

NOV 13 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2018-001664

Anthony Graham, Employee,Respondent,

v.

Stacy Whitfield d/b/a Whitfield Land & Tree Service, Direct Employer,
and S.C. Uninsured Employer's Fund, Carrier,

Of which Stacy Whitfield d/b/a Whitfield Land & Tree Service is the
Respondent and S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund is theAppellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Samuel D. Harms, III
S.C. Bar No: 13537
Harms Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 51449
Piedmont, SC 29673
(864) 332-4324
samuel@harmslawfirm.com
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

The only issue on appeal is whether the employer regularly employed four or more employees in the State. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-360(2) (Supp.2017). The

Commission found that the employer regularly employed four or more employees. (Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 9). The Commission heard the live witnesses in this case. The Appellate Panel found the claimant more believable than the employer because the employer pays his employees in cash and does not keep any records of the dates and times his employees work. In addition, both the employer and the claimant testified that the employer employed four or more employees. The brief of defendant S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund completely ignores the most relevant testimony and basic arithmetic. In addition, defendant S.C. Uninsured Employer's Fund asks this Court to disregard the findings of fact of the Commission that were based on the credibility of the witnesses. The Commission heard the live testimony of the witnesses and its findings of fact should not set aside.

PART I

I. **The employer regularly employed four or more individuals in the State.**

In finding of fact number nine, the Appellate Panel found that defendant Stacy Whitfield had four or more regularly employed individuals working for him during the relevant time period before the accident. (Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 9). As stated in James v. Anne's Inc., 390 S.C. 188, 198, 701 S.E.2d 730, 735 (2010):

[T]he Commission regularly exercises its flexibility in making compensation awards to ensure the best interests of the workers are protected to the extent the award is not otherwise prohibited by the Workers' Compensation Act. This is consistent with the general rule **that workers' compensation law is to be liberally construed in favor of coverage** in order to serve the beneficent purpose of the Act. (emphasis added).

Id. The preponderance of the evidence supports the conclusion that the employer regularly employed four or more employees in the State.

The employer testified that he has a total of ten individuals working for him. (Hr. Tr. pp. 22-58) (Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 7-8). The employer testified that he has three people working for him full-time, and seven part-time workers that he uses one or two days a week. (\$8 an hour, or \$80 to \$100 for the day). (Hr. Tr. pp. 22-58) (Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 7-8). The employer said that: "everyone that you have mentioned [the 10 employees] I have worked for over – I mean, the years ... for years." (Hr. Tr. p. 34). The employer used words such as "most days" and "everyday" to describe how often Ritchie Brant and Carla Weaver work for him. (Hr. Tr. pp. 57-58). The employer paid the claimant an average of \$500 a week for an entire year. (Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 13) (Hr. Tr. pp. 69-71). The claimant was paid \$26,000 by the employer in the year before the accident. (Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 13) (Hr. Tr. pp. 69-71). The employer testified he used seven more individuals to run his professional tree cutting service. He used two on Monday, two more on Tuesday, two more on Wednesday, and then on Thursday he reused the two individuals from Monday, and on Friday, he reused two more individuals. (Hr. Tr. pp.

The claimant's testimony is sufficient to resolve this case and the appeal. The employer paid his employees cash and did not keep any records of the payments to his employees, including payments to the claimant. (Hr. Tr. p. 25)(Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 6). Therefore, there is no written payroll records to contradict the testimony of the claimant. The Court can decide the case on the testimony of the claimant alone, especially since the employer cannot produce any payroll records that contradict the testimony of the claimant. In short, the claimant testified there were four or more employees working for the employer and this Court can decide the case based solely on the testimony of the claimant. (Hr. Tr. pp. 81). The employer has been paying these

individuals for years. (Hr. Tr. p. 34). The finding of fact by the Appellate Panel that defendant Stacy Whitfield had four or more regularly employed individuals working for him during the relevant time period before the accident is supported by the preponderance of the evidence.

PART II

II. The employer's employees were not casual employees.

The S.C Uninsured Employers' Fund argues that the employer's employees were merely casual employees and they should be excluded from the total number of employees. Brief of Appellant pp. 10-12. The defendants did not submit any pay records of the employees into evidence at the hearing. Also, no one testified at the hearing that the employees were casual employees. No one testified that the labor was irregular, unpredictable, sporadic or brief. In fact, the employer and claimant testified to just the opposite. The employer testified that Brant Richie works for the employer "most days" and he pays Mr. Richie \$80 a day. (Hr. Tr. p. 32, 58). The employer testified that he is "always needing Carla Weaver to do his books" and that "she does everything" for him except cutting the trees. (Hr. Tr. p. 57). The employer testified that Carla Weaver works for him "every day." (Hr. Tr. p. 57). The employer paid the claimant \$100 to \$150 a day, \$500 a week on average, for the one year before the accident. (Hr. Tr. pp. 22-23, 25, 69-71).

The employer testified that the part-time workers work on a weekly rotation. According to the testimony of the employer, four individuals would work two days a week, and two more individuals would work one day a week. (Hr. Tr. pp. 54-55). These employees consistently worked two days a week for the employer. The employer has employed these individuals for years in a business that has now operated for twenty

years. The business is a successful business that consistently needs labor to make a profit for the employer.

According to the claimant's testimony, the business has up to six tree cutters working at a single job site, and five different tree cutters (in addition to the claimant) worked as a tree cutter in the week before the accident. If the employer kept pay records, there may be a lot more employees on the payroll. There is a reason why the employer pays his employees cash and keeps no records of the wages paid to the employees. The employer is not credible, according to the Commission, because he pays his employees cash and does not keep any records of payments to his employees.

PART III

III. Carla Weaver is not a gratuitous employee.

Defendant S.C. Uninsured Employer's Fund argues that Carla Weaver should not count as an employee because she is just a gratuitous employee. Appellant's Brief at 12. This argument was not made to the hearing commission and is not preserved for appeal. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). At the hearing, counsel for the S.C. Uninsured Employer's Fund argued as follows: "Mr. Commissioner, I would just point out for the record, there is case law that says that family members who work in the business and don't get paid cash, even if – even if they live in the family home, are not employees." (Hr. Tr. p. 38). This legal argument by the defendant caused the parties to ask direct questions to the employer about his relationship with Carla Weaver since the defendants were arguing that family members cannot count as an employee of the business. The employer then testified that: "Well, I'm not actually – I'm not actually law abiding married to anyone; I've never been law abiding married, in a court of law, to no one." (Hr. Tr. p. 60). When the employer was asked what he meant

by the term "wife," the employer said that: "South Carolina says that anyone ... that lives in your house for over a year and has clothes and stuff in your house, in any situation, for over a year is your wife by State law." (Hr. Tr. p. 61). Based on these statements by the employer, and in response to the S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund legal argument that "family members who work in the business and live in the family home, are not employees," the hearing commissioner made a finding of fact that Carla Weaver is not the wife of the employer. (Hr. Tr. p. 38) (Hearing Commissioner decision, FOF No. 8). In addition, the Appellate Panel, in finding of fact number eight found that the employer and Carla Weaver are not married. No party appealed that finding of fact and it has become the law of the case.

On appeal, the defendant has changed its legal argument from "family members" are not employees to gratuitous employees are not employees. The appellant has not preserved this argument for appeal because it was not argued to or ruled upon by the hearing commissioner. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). The claimant asks this Court to hold that this issue was not preserved for appeal.

As to the issue of Carla Weaver's employment status, the employer testified that he is "always needing Carla Weaver to do his books" and that "she does everything" for him except cut the trees. (Hr. Tr. p. 36, 57). The employer testified that Carla Weaver works for him "every day." (Hr. Tr. p. 57). Carla Weaver runs to the bank to put money in the bank for the business. (Hr. Tr. p. 58). She helps him read maps, and does "all" of the paperwork. (Hr. Tr. p. 36). The employer testified that he is not a good reader, so he relies on her to understand legal documents. (Hr. Tr. p. 36).

As to the compensation paid to Carla Weaver, the employer testified as follows:

Q. And what does she get – what does she get for that?

A. She don't get nothing.

Q. Well, you – she doesn't get anything at all?

A. Well, I mean, I pay her bills, I pay her light bill, I pay her – I buy her cars, I buy her panties; I buy everything for her.

Q. Okay

A. I mean, that's what she gets.

Q. All right, but you already said she gets some food, she gets some clothing, she gets shelter; is that correct?

A. Yeah.

(Hr. Tr. pp. 37-38).

The case cited by the S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund, Kirksey v. Assurance Tire Co., 311 S.C. 255, 428 S.E.2d 721, specifically states that a person is an employee if they receive payment "of some kind" for her services, and "[p]ayment, however, 'need not be in money, but may be in anything of value.'" Kirksey, at S.E.2d 723 (citing 1B Arthur Larson, *The Law of Workmen's Compensation* § 47.10 at 8-302 (1992)). The Kirksey case specifically states that room and board are sufficient to sustain a finding of employment:

Board, room, and training, such as might be furnished a student nurse or hospital intern or laboratory assistant trainee, or student teacher are treated as the equivalent of wages.

Kirksey, S.E.2d at 723. In this case, the employer testified that he provided room, board, a car, clothing, and other goods to Carla Weaver for her wages. Carla Weaver does not work for anyone else. She receives all of her support from the employer. Carla Weaver received "payment of some kind" for her work, and therefore, she is an employee. In the Kirksey case, the daughter of the employer was paid nothing for keeping the books and she received nothing of value according to the Court. Kirksey, S.E.2d at 723.

Finally, in Finding of Fact No. 8, the Appellate Panel found:

For purposes of deciding if Carla Weaver should count as an employee for determining if the Employer regularly employs 4 or more employees, we hold that there are already four or more employees regularly employed by the Employer even if we do not count Carla Weaver.

Therefore, even if Carla Weaver is excluded as an employee, the Appellate Panel found that the employer still had four or more employees.

PART IV

IV. The case law supports the Commission's finding that the employer regularly employed four or more employees.

The Brief of the Appellant raises the issue, for the first time on appeal, the amount of time that should be allocated to the "relevant time period" in this case. In this case, the relevant time period is 20 years since the employer has been in the same type of work for 20 years, without any interruptions or change. The tree cutting business is the employer's full-time job, and the tree cutting business is not just a temporary job or hobby for the employer. (Hr. Tr. p. 14). (Appellate Panel decision, FOF No. 9). As a practical matter, the employer did not maintain or submit any pay records to the Commission for the past 20 years. As such, the employer prevented the Commission from counting the number of employees paid and the frequency of pay over the past 20 years. Why does the employer pay his employees cash and not keep any records of the wages paid to the employees? At the hearing, the employer was asked questions about the number of employees – name by name. The claimant had to rely on his memory of the names of the people he worked with during his tenure with the employer. As a practical matter, the testimony at the hearing centered around the workers who worked for the employer during the one year the claimant worked for the employer prior to the

accident. If the relevant time period is the one year the claimant worked for the employer, the factual analysis results in the conclusion that the employer had ten regularly employed individuals working for him during a relevant time period of one year.

A. The S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund relies on Harding v. Plumley, 329 S.C. 580, 496 S.E.2d 29 (Ct.App.1998). In Harding, the employer submitted the payroll records from his accountant to the Commission and the Commission could see exactly who worked what days and what the employees were paid. The Court determined that the employer had two regularly employed employees because two employees worked partial, part-time hours for the two months before the work accident. The claimant was injured on his first day on the job. In the year before the work accident, the employer paid one employee one paycheck for \$126, another employee two paychecks for part-time work over a two month period, and a final employee one paycheck for \$350. The Court held that the employees who were only paid one or two times for essentially a day or two of labor in the 12 months before the claimant's work accident were not regularly employed. The employees who were paid more than two times were all considered regularly employed by this Court, even though those employees worked only partial, part-time hours during those weeks.

In this case under review, the employer paid ten employees more than two times in the year before the work accident. Following the factual and legal analysis of the Harding case, in the case under review, all ten employees of the employer are regularly employed by the employer. In addition, the Harding case is distinctly different from the case under review because in Harding the employer provided the Court with a printout of the wages paid to the employees. In the case under review, the employer paid his employees in cash and kept no records of the hours worked. If the employer had kept

records of the payments, the Court could very well find that the employer had more than ten employees using the Harding analysis that part-time employees who receive more than two paychecks in a 12 month period are regularly employed by the employer. For this reason, the Commission found the claimant more believable than the employer when the claimant testified that the employer had up to six tree cutters, not including the claimant and Carla Weaver, working at one job site.

The following comment by the Court of Appeals in the Harding case is directly on point for the facts in this case:

While the facts of this case support no other conclusion, we do not imply that employers can avoid the Act simply by shifting the particular employees they hire. Rather, in deciding whether an employee is regular or casual, consideration should be given to both duration and regularity of recurrence.

329 S.C. 580, fn.4, 496 S.E.2d 29 fn.4 (Ct.App.1998) (citing 4 Arthur Larson, Workers' Compensation Law, § 53.20 (1997)). The Court of Appeals makes it clear that employers cannot rotate employees on a daily (or weekly) basis to avoid purchasing workers' compensation coverage. In finding of fact number six, the Appellate Panel stated: "We find the Employer was moving employees around to avoid buying workers' compensation insurance." The finding of fact is consistent with the Court of Appeals' comment in Harding and supports the claimant's position in this case.

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